STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE CHARLESTON COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
Mikell R. Scarborough, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000937

---

City of Folly Beach, Coastal Conservation League, Save Folly Beach, Inc., John Collins,  
Matt Napier, Paula Stubblefield, Troy Bode, and Carol Kruer, . . . . . Appellants,

vs.

State of South Carolina, Amy Connelly, Jeffrey H. Morris, Michael Vandaele, Stephen Rawe, Juan  
Enterprises, LLC, Juanita A Wright, Debbie's Folly, LLC, and  
Vernon Staubes, . . . . . Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS**

---

Michael G. Corley  
Leslie S. Lenhardt

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in determining that the Appellants do not possess public importance standing, when the City and its residents would be required to continue enduring enhanced threats to public safety, public infrastructure, and public access/recreation as a consequence of the unresolved legal question presented in this case.
2. Did the Circuit Court err in determining that the Appellants do not possess constitutional standing, when: the Appellants have concrete property interests at stake in this litigation; the City's core functions as a municipality are impaired as a consequence of the issue presented in this litigation; and the individual Appellants have asserted their valid interests in property value, property use and enjoyment, and recreation.
3. Did the Circuit Court err in undertaking its analysis of standing without consideration of the fact that the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act authorizes an action by any party "whose rights, status or other legal relations are affected"?
4. Did the Circuit Court err in determining that the Appellants did not state a viable legal claim when the legal theory presented in this case has been sustained, down to the last detail, by courts in other coastal states and by the United States Supreme Court?
5. Did the Circuit Court err in determining that the Appellants did not state a viable legal claim when multiple appellate opinions in South Carolina adopt the same legal theory presented in this case, only with slightly different language or under slightly different factual circumstances?
6. Did the Circuit Court prematurely resolve the viability of the Appellants' legal claims when those claims seek a novel extension or clarification of South Carolina law, and dismissal has been granted prior to any development of the case?
7. Whereas the Appellants have sought to establish a legal principle and precedent of broad applicability, did the Circuit Court err in mistaking parties for whom the outcome of this case will be relevant for parties that must be named in the case?
8. Did the Circuit Court err in determining to be indispensable parties to this case a group of property owners for whom no active or live controversy exists?
9. Did the Circuit Court err in considering no other possible remedy but dismissal for Appellants' purported failure to name indispensable parties?

## **I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Appellants filed this action for declaratory judgment and an injunction on February 12, 2019. Citing common law principles related to the public trust doctrine, the Appellants commenced this action in order to obtain a declaration of ownership status for certain sections of property on the beachfront of Folly Island, within the City of Folly Beach, that have been created by artificial beach renourishment. The defendants named in this action have claimed private ownership over such property, which the Appellants contend is part of the public trust.

Represented by various counsel, each of the Respondents filed a motion to dismiss this case, except for Respondent Michael Vandaele, who has not participated in these proceedings. Motions to dismiss were filed under both Rule 12(b)(6) and Rule 12(c), SCRCF. Upon consent of the parties, the motions to dismiss were referred to the master-in-equity for Charleston County, the Honorable Mikell Scarborough. After a hearing on January 28, 2020, Judge Scarborough accepted proposed orders and supplemental briefing from the parties before issuing an order of dismissal on May 11, 2020. Dismissal was granted on the basis of the arguments advanced by the Respondents, which were that the Appellants lacked standing, had failed to state a viable cause of action, and had not named all necessary parties. The Appellants filed their notice of appeal with this Court on June 10, 2020.

## II. ARGUMENT

As will be explained fully herein, the Appellants have a number of bases for relief upon which this Court should reverse the Circuit Court's order of dismissal and remand this case for consideration on the merits.

### SUMMARY OF APPEAL

Folly Beach—both the municipality and the shoreline itself—has a serious problem. What was undoubtedly intended as favorable treatment by state legislators drafting the Beachfront Management Act in the late 1980s has resulted in an intractable legal void that plagues the City and its residents. One can understand how it seemed sensible back in 1988 to exclude Folly Beach from most of the provisions of the Beachfront Management Act, given that Folly is in the impact zone from the Charleston Harbor jetties, causing a disruption to normal shoreline processes. In this way, Folly is different from other beaches, so it is sensible for Folly to receive alternative treatment under our beachfront statute. The problem comes in, however, in the fact that alternative statutory and regulatory controls were never created for Folly Beach. Instead, the City and its residents have simply been left entirely without the support of DHEC's Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource Management, which uses its authority to ensure sensible development on other beachfronts, and without the state regulatory system for determining which parts of the sandy beachfront are allowable for development. In essence, the City of Folly Beach has been handed all the difficulty of managing one of our state's most erosive beaches, but with very few of the legal tools necessary to undertake that management.

As a consequence of this disparity, the City has struggled for decades to find a legal mechanism for preventing dangerous development, even on the most ephemeral pieces of beachfront

sand. Unquestionably, the worst of this development has been that occurring on Folly’s “super-beachfront lots,” which are platted areas located in front of Folly Beach’s long-established beachfront, too far seaward even for road access. These “lots” typically exist in a cycle of erosion and restoration, with natural erosive forces submerging the lots, before sand is added to the beach through artificial renourishment, temporarily creating dry ground—and then the process starts over. Because the state regulatory system that would forbid development of these areas does not apply, more than a dozen “super-beachfront” houses have been constructed in locations that are flatly outrageous by comparison to development on any other beach in South Carolina, and the consequences of such development have been predictable—homes have been condemned, public beach has been lost and damaged, and the financial and administrative burden has been great. Unfortunately, part of Folly Beach’s identity has become as the place where abnormally tall and thin houses are squeezed onto the beach, walled off from the ever-encroaching ocean, and stuck in front of homes that are beachfront by every other indication.

Driven by the absence of any other viable legal option for addressing this dilemma, the City of Folly Beach and some of its most affected residents have resorted to the judicial system for clarity and relief, and the vehicle they have chosen for doing so is most straightforward and fundamental. The strikingly simple objective of this case is to have a South Carolina court enunciate a principle that is well-defined in many other jurisdictions—that being the principle of avulsion—and to have a South Carolina court answer a question that is clearly resolved in most other coastal states—that being the question of who owns dry ground created through artificial beach renourishment.

It is already well-established under South Carolina law that a platted property, while perhaps continuing to exist on paper with the register of deeds, ceases to be private property when it is

claimed by erosion and submerged. In a state with as much beachfront and riverfront as South Carolina, this principle, which is part of the public trust doctrine, is indelible and necessary for orderly management of public resources. Some of our state beaches and waterfronts have migrated a mile or more over the centuries, and the land on which entire settlements existed has in some cases been overtaken by the sea. Properties like these are of course forever lost to time, as the sea and the tidal beach belong to the state as part of the public trust. Indeed, under the circumstances, a system where private ownership of submerged property is retained would be disastrous. What happens, though, when platted lots that have been submerged and part of the public trust are brought back above water through a massive artificial beach renourishment project? And, as is the situation facing Folly Beach, what is to be done when the purported owners of these reemerged plats seek development, and a legal exemption negates the state laws that would normally prohibit construction on such precarious property regardless of ownership? South Carolina jurisprudence presently lacks a precise and direct answer to either of these questions, to the great detriment of the City of Folly Beach and many of its oceanfront property owners.

Even putting Folly Beach aside for a moment, the fact that these are unresolved questions in our coast-heavy state is both shocking and problematic. Surely a fundamental purpose of the judicial system is to serve as a locus for parties to seek clarity as to important legal principles like these, especially when presented within the context of a dangerous, persistent and publicly-significant problem.

Yet, the Circuit Court here has shown itself to be susceptible to the Respondents' efforts to shift the focus of this case onto everything but the very simple legal questions presented. Indeed, this case was dismissed before it even began, with arguments before the Circuit Court centering upon

the Appellants' standing to raise the claims in this case. By now, it has become a reflexive default on the part of those defending environmental-based claims in South Carolina to lean heavily upon the standing doctrine, regardless of the circumstances at play. And, to be sure, the propensity of our state's trial-level courts to become entangled by such arguments—especially in complex or novel environmental cases—counsels in favor of that approach. However, if our Supreme Court has conveyed one message in its environmental jurisprudence, especially in recent years, it is that the overreaching of lower courts in relation to what should be a basic preliminary inquiry must cease. Here, if the Appellants in this case truly lack standing, then they are completely without remedy for an ongoing, significant legal injury, and the traditional function of the common law has broken down in this case.

Finally, while the questions presented in this case are simple, the stakes are deceptively high. This Court's opinion will be the first South Carolina appellate court opinion ever to mention the legal principle of "avulsion," much less to consider the property implications of a beach renourishment. In a state where this sort of beach project has become ubiquitous, the ultimate outcome in this case will reverberate along our entire coastline. The novel nature of this case makes particularly troubling the Circuit Court's gratuitous venture into the law of avulsion. Specifically, after announcing that the Appellants lacked standing to raise an avulsion argument, the Circuit Court nevertheless went on to undertake a misguided legal analysis of the principle and related concepts. Without intervention from this Court, that order is now the seed from which our state's jurisprudence on this issue will grow. It is therefore imperative that the Court utilize this appeal to correct the Circuit Court's legal error and to enunciate the concepts at issue here in a manner comporting with the common law of this and other states.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing dismissal of a claim for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. Sloan Constr. Co. v. Southco Grassing, Inc., 377 S.C. 108, 112, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008). “The question for the court is whether in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint state any valid claim for relief.” Id. at 112–113, 659 S.E.2d at 161. The court will not sustain the motion if the “facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.” Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 603 (1995).

An appellate court also applies the same standard of review as the trial court when reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRCP. See Hambrick v. GMAC Mortg. Corp., 370 S.C. 118, 122, 634 S.E.2d 5, 7 (Ct. App. 2006) (discussing the standard of review of a motion for judgment on the pleadings). When considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c), the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted. Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 286–87, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Accepting the Appellants’ allegations as true, as is necessary given the procedural posture of this appeal, the factual circumstances relevant to this matter are as follows:

### *Super-beachfront lots:*

Based on a combination of factors, including property irregularities, legal exceptions, natural forces, and unintended engineering consequences, management of the beachfront on Folly Island is a challenge unlike anywhere else on South Carolina’s coast. (Wetmore ¶4, R. pp. 139-140). Most

problematic, this combination of factors has spawned a type of unwelcome development that is unique to Folly—what has come to be called “super-beachfront” development.

“Super-beachfront” is the term used on Folly for relic lots, mostly created in the 1950s, which are platted seaward of the long-established beachfront on the Island and which have no direct road access. (Wetmore ¶4, R. pp. 139-140). Folly Beach generally has oceanfront development typical of South Carolina beaches, with the first row of oceanfront homes separated from the active beach by a strip of sand dunes. (Complaint ¶13, R. p. 36). All of the “super-beachfront” lots are platted seaward of this typical oceanfront development, usually on or in front of the most seaward dunes. (Complaint ¶13, R. p. 36). The existence of these lots would not be apparent to anyone surveying the area on the ground, as the platted lots lines typically bound only ocean, wet beach, and/or oceanfront sand dunes. (Complaint ¶12, R. p. 36). Put simply, dozens of old plats exist showing the beach and near-ocean on Folly Beach as private residential lots.

Not surprisingly, these super-beachfront lots historically have been regarded as possessing very little market value, as South Carolina simply has no history of development in such areas. Indeed, the most common fate for these lots has been donation to the City or simple abandonment.<sup>1</sup> (Complaint ¶22, R. p. 39). The traditional lack of regard for these lots is also of course reflected in their continuing vacancy in the otherwise heavily developed Folly Beach. Respondents Juan Enterprises, LLC and Juanita Wright, for example, own lots that were platted in 1951 and that have never been developed, despite decades of incredible demand for buildable beachfront property.

---

<sup>1</sup>For example the Court can take judicial notice of the fact that parcel TMS# 4391500048, located three lots down from that owned by Respondent Juan Enterprises, LLC, was donated to the City for the price of \$1 in 2003.

(Napier ¶6, R. p. 122 ). That demand, though, began to drive some development interest in these lots by the late 1990s, when the first super-beachfront residences were constructed. (Wetmore ¶6, R. p. 140). Today, while the great majority of super-beachfront lots remain undeveloped and often submerged by the tides, residences have been constructed on fourteen of the lots.(Wetmore ¶6, R. p. 140). The individual Respondents in this case seek to add to that number by developing their own super-beachfront properties.

*Beach renourishment:*

A significant factor driving increased super-beachfront development has been the City's initiation of regular artificial beach renourishment projects. As a consequence of both natural erosion and disruption caused by the Charleston Harbor jetties, Folly Beach is one of the most sand-starved and erosive beaches on South Carolina's coast. (Complaint ¶15, R. p. 37). Consequently, a recurring cycle of major beach renourishment has become a necessity for the viability of Folly Beach, and those renourishment projects, funded by millions of dollars in federal money, are scheduled to occur every seven years. (Wetmore ¶17, R. p. 142). Folly's renourishment projects involve massive volumes of sand being pumped onto the beach from outside sources in order to build up the elevation of the beach. (Complaint ¶15, R. p. 37). Some portions of Folly's beachfront are buried under as much as ten feet of renourishment sand during these projects, and this increase in beach elevation converts many acres of shoreline from ocean or wet beach into sandy dry ground above the normal high tide line. (Complaint ¶18, R. p. 37-38).

The most recent renourishment project on Folly occurred during the summer and fall of 2018. This project, undertaken by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, included the pumping of nearly one million cubic feet of sand onto a two-mile stretch of Folly beach, with at least \$11,000,000 in public

funds spent. (Complaint ¶18, R. p. 37-38). As a result of this renourishment, the shoreline was pushed out by approximately fifty yards, with significant additional beach created. (Napier ¶16, R. p. 124). Super-beachfront lots, including those of the Respondents, went from submerged or nearly submerged to dry ground covered in renourishment sand. (Napier ¶16, R. p. 124).

Of course, if renourishment projects were durable, it would not be necessary for the projects to occur on a seven-year (or shorter) cycle. No renourishment projects are permanent, to be sure, and that impermanence often plays out dramatically on erosive Folly Beach. Appellant Matt Napier, who owns a residence adjoining the beach on the northeastern portion of the Island, explained the following in relation to the 2018 renourishment:

Immediately upon the renourishment ending, the renourishment sand began to erode away, and that process has been more or less continuous through the present, with steady erosion back toward the dunes on my property. Just over one year after renourishment ended, well over fifty percent of the renourished sand is gone from the stretch of beach nearest me. If the current trajectory continues, the beach will soon be back to it's pre-renourished / eroded state, with all the super beachfront lots being active, tidal beach.

(Napier ¶17, R. p. 121). In short, the shoreline and property configuration existing immediately post-renourishment is fleeting and significantly belies the normal condition of the beach. (Complaint ¶16, R. p. 37).

Despite this impermanence, the sand added by these renourishment projects has been utilized to facilitate super-beachfront development. (Complaint ¶17, R. p. 37). Remarkably, renourishment projects have triggered a sort of perverse land grab, wherein super-beachfront owners rush in to develop their properties in the brief window following a renourishment, before erosion reclaims the sand. (Complaint ¶20, R. p. 38). Residences are constructed on top of the renourishment sand, and seawalls are then built around these super-beachfront residences so that they won't wash into the

ocean when the beach inevitably reverts to its normal condition. (Complaint ¶17, R. p. 37).

*Existing super-beachfront development:*

Needless to say, the negative consequences of developing in this manner have been significant and widespread, and super-beachfront development has flatly been a disaster for the City of Folly Beach. Existing super-beachfront residences regularly end up on the active beach, inundated at every tide. (Wetmore ¶10, R. p. 141). Indeed, under typical beach conditions, the existing super-beachfront structures extend well onto the beach, kept out of the ocean only by seawalls.

(Complaint ¶14, R. p. 36-37). Especially in the gaps between beach renourishments, it is not at all unusual for a super-beachfront house to end up imperiled by regular ocean tides, even with the seawalls that have been constructed around these developed lots. (Wetmore ¶19, R. p. 140-141). As the tides consistently come up, over, and around these beached houses, septic tanks are exposed and foundations are eroded, to the point of making the structures uninhabitable. (Wetmore ¶10, R. p. 141). Several of the existing super-beachfront homes have in fact been temporarily condemned by the City, some on multiple occasions. (Complaint ¶14, R. p. 36-37).

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