THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 14 2021

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2020-000937

City of Folly Beach, Coastal Conservation League, Save Folly Beach, Inc., John Collins,
Matt Napier, Paula Stubblefield, Troy Bode, and Carol
Kruer.....Appellants,

v.

State of South Carolina, Amy Connelly, Jeffrey H. Morris, Michael Vandaele, Stephen
Rawe, Juan Enterprises, LLC, Juanita A. Wright, Debbie’s Folly, LLC, and Vernon
Staubes,

Of which, State of South Carolina, Jeffrey H. Morris, Stephen Rawe, Juan Enterprises,
LLC, Juanita A. Wright, and Vernon Staubes are.....Respondents.

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

ARGUMENT

I. NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY IS PRESENT TO GIVE THIS COURT SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION BECAUSE APPELLANTS LACK STANDING.

Appellants do not allege any basis for their standing to sue in this case. As discussed below, because Appellants lack standing, this suit does not present a justiciable case or controversy, and this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.

In their first cause of action, Appellants seek a declaration that the Defendant State owns the property. R. p. 000042, ¶136. Appellants do not have standing to seek that declaration because they do not have or claim an ownership interest in that land. Their second cause of action for injunctive relief against the individual Respondents is also based upon alleged State ownership of the property and similarly fails due to lack of standing.

“South Carolina courts, like the federal courts, require a justiciable case or controversy before any decision on the merits can be reached. *See Waters v. South Carolina Land Resources Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 467 S.E.2d 913 (1996); *Crocker v. Barr*, 303 S.C. 1, 397 S.E.2d 665 (Ct.App.1990) (Goolsby, J., concurring), rev'd on other grounds, 305 S.C. 406, 409 S.E.2d 368 (1991).” *Lennon v. South Carolina Coastal Council*, 330 S.C. 414, 417-18, 498 S.E.2d 906, 908 (Ct.App.1998).³ Appellants have alleged no justiciable controversy because they lack standing. “The principle of

³ See also, *Tourism Expenditure Review Committee v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 403 S.C. 76, 81, 742 S.E.2d 371, 373 (S.C. 2013) (“The parties cannot by consent or agreement confer jurisdiction on the court to render a declaratory judgment in the absence of an actual justiciable controversy.” *Power v. McNair*, 255 S.C. 150, 153, 177 S.E.2d 551, 552 (1970).”).

standing under the United States Constitution is ‘an essential and unchanging part of the case-or-controversy requirement of Article III.’ *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992).” *ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 195-96, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008). Because no case or controversy is presented due to the lack of standing, this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over this case. *Lennon*, 498 S.E.2d at 907–08.⁴

The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated:

“Standing to sue is a fundamental requirement in instituting an action.” *Joytime Distribs. & Amusement Co. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 639, 528 S.E.2d 647, 649 (1999). Under our current jurisprudence, there are three ways in which a party can acquire this fundamental threshold of standing: (1) by statute; (2) through what is called “constitutional standing”; and (3) under the public importance exception. *ATC S., supra*.

Bodman v. State, 403 S.C. 60, 66-67, 742 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2013). Appellants have no “constitutional standing” or standing by statute and did not raise and preserve standing under the public importance exception, and have not statutorily granted standing.

A. Appellants Have No Constitutional Standing

The principle of standing under the United States Constitution is “an essential and unchanging part of the case-or-controversy requirement of Article III.” *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). As stated in *ATC S.*, 380 S.C. at 195-96, 669 S.E.2d at 339:

⁴ As stated in *Lennon*:

“[S]tanding acts as an element of the constitutional requirement that there be a ‘case or controversy’; when thus applied, *it acts as a limitation on the subject matter jurisdiction of the federal courts.*” * * * 6A Charles A. Wright et al., *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 1542 (1990) (emphasis added [by the Court of Appeals]) (footnotes omitted). South Carolina courts, like the federal courts, require a justiciable case or controversy before any decision on the merits can be reached.

330 S.C. at 417-418, 498 S.E.2d at 908 (parallel cites omitted).

The Supreme Court has provided a three-part test to establish standing: First, the plaintiff must have suffered an “injury in fact” - an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized, and (b) “actual or imminent, not ‘conjectural’ or ‘hypothetical,’ ” Second, there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of the injury has to be “fairly ... trace[able] to the challenged action of the defendant, and not ... th[e] result [of] the independent action of some third party not before the court.” Third, it must be “likely,” as opposed to merely “speculative,” that the injury will be “redressed by a favorable decision.” *Lujan*, 504 U.S. at 560–61 (internal citations omitted). .

“Constitutional standing requires, at a minimum, that the party bringing the action sustain a direct injury or the immediate danger a direct injury will be sustained.” *Commander Health Care Facilities, Inc. v. S. Carolina Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 370 S.C. 296, 301, 634 S.E.2d 664, 666 (Ct. App. 2006). Appellants fail to meet these standards.

Appellants in this action have no “injury in fact” that is “concrete and particularized” and “actual or imminent” as to a “legally protected interest” to establish standing. In fact, according to the allegations in the complaint, Appellants have no interest whatsoever in the property at issue. They contend that the State owns the property, but Appellants have no authority to assert claims of ownership for the State, just as citizens have no standing to assert the property interests of their next-door neighbors.⁵ Although Appellants argue that citizens may sue to protect the public trust, they concede that “none of the Appellants can assert that property interest [in public trust property] on behalf of the State.” R. p. 000167. They seemingly abandon claims against the State with that concession and by saying the following:

However, the Appellants are, as a practical matter, apathetic about whether or not the state continues as a party in this case, because the involvement

⁵ Appellants claim they are suing as beneficiaries of the public trust doctrine citing *Sierra Club v. Kiawah Resort Assocs.*, 318 S.C. 119, 456 S.E.2d 397 (1995), but that Opinion did not address standing. The case was an appeal from the issuance of a permit for dock construction. The instant case, instead, is not an appeal from a regulatory decision. Although *Nat’l Audubon Soc’y v. Superior Court*, 658 P.2d 709, 716 (Cal. 1983) allowed suit over a public trust interest, the action was about water rights, not property ownership.

of the state and its property in this case is certainly secondary. This case is an effort by a municipality and certain private property owners to limit the individual Defendants' development activities to just the property those Defendants actually own, and the reason for such effort has nothing to do with harm to the public trust, but, rather, is intended to prevent harm to the Appellants' personal and property interests.

R. pp. 000168 - 000169.

Apathy does not meet constitutional standards for standing. Having conceded that this case has "nothing to do with harm to the public trust" and having no claim of ownership or possession of the property at issue, Appellants completely lack standing in this case to seek a declaration of ownership as to the State in the first cause of action. They do not seek injunctive relief as to the State in the second cause of action.

Appellants try to shift the focus by arguing that they are the real parties in interest, but being a real party does not create standing. As discussed by *Lennon*:

In *Bardoon Properties*, "the supreme court ... noted, however, that 'there is a difference between the concepts of 'standing,' 'capacity to sue,' and 'real party in interest.' " *Id.* at 169 n. 3, 485 S.E.2d at 373 n. 3 (citing 6A Charles A. Wright et al., Federal Practice and Procedure § 1542 at 328-29 (1990); *Firestone v. Galbreath*, 976 F.2d 279, 283 (6th Cir.1992)). The distinction is important here.

* * *

... plaintiff must both be the real party in interest and have standing ... One significant context in which the two concepts diverge is when for standing purposes the plaintiff is required to show not only that he has been adversely affected by the governmental conduct that is under attack, but also that he has suffered an injury to a legally protected right...

Another point of departure is that standing acts as an element of the constitutional requirement that there be a "case or controversy"; when thus applied, it acts as a limitation on the subject matter jurisdiction of the federal courts. In this context, objections to standing, unlike Rule 17(a) objections, cannot be waived and may be raised by a federal court *sua sponte*.

6A Charles A. Wright et al., Federal Practice and Procedure § 1542 (1990) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted).

Lennon, supra, 498 S.E.2d at 907–08.

Appellants snip the following quote from *Pres. Soc'y of Charleston v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 430 S.C. 200, 215, 845 S.E.2d 481, 489 (2020), *reh'g denied* (Aug. 7, 2020), which is completely inapplicable to the instant case: “[t]he courts below essentially, and erroneously, required Petitioners to prove the existence of an environmental impact on their members and the surrounding neighborhoods as part of establishing standing.” Appellants omit the next sentence: “[t]he ALC and the court of appeals failed to consider that the purpose of Petitioners' action is to seek administrative review of whether DHEC engaged in a proper environmental analysis in the first instance ...” *Id.* The Court of Appeals found that “the members fall within the scope of any reasonable, ordinary definition of ‘affected persons’” under the statute and thereby met the first ground for associational standing. *Id.*, 845 S.E. 2d at 490. The instant case is not an administrative review case nor is it an associational standing case. Therefore, *Preservation Society* does not apply.

Appellants have simply failed to show constitutional standing to seek a declaration of ownership of property that they do not claim. Therefore, they do not have standing to sue the State nor, as discussed *infra*, do they have standing to sue the other parties.

1. Appellants have no standing as to individual lot owners.

Appellants' injuries arising from future development of Respondent Owners are speculative at best. As such, the alleged injury is neither actual nor imminent but is, instead, conjectural and hypothetical. Moreover, Appellants' recreational interests “involve property that is privately owned by a party other than the plaintiff” and “the presence of an injury in fact cannot be assumed.” *Town of Arcadia Lakes v. S.C. Dep't*

of Health and Env'tl. Control, 404 S. C. 515, 531-32, 745 S. E. 2d 385, 394 (2013). Finally, Appellants' claims of potential injuries from flooding and loss of beach use are merely injuries of a general nature common to all members of the public and not individualized.

The Complaint fails to establish that Appellants have any protectable individual interests at risk of injury. The Complaint rests in part on claims for potential loss of ocean views, should any development occur. However, in this State, a private landowner does not acquire "an easement of unobstructed ocean view, breezes, light or air" over adjoining property. *Schroeder v. O'Neill*, 179 S.C. 310, 315, 184 S.E. 679, 681 (1936); *see also Hill v. The Beach Co.*, 279 S.C. 313, 315, 306 S.E.2d 604, 605 (1983). Thus, no reasonable expectation can exist at the time of purchase that the then existing view will remain unchanged over time. Instead, especially for a view overlooking public trust property, no inherent right to a continued view exists. Rather, OCRM, the agency charged with overseeing the State's coastal public trust property, must balance all of the legitimate uses of the public trust property. In short, loss of view is not an actionable injury in South Carolina, particularly when such loss of view has not even happened. Appellants simply cannot establish any injuries sustained as a result of allegedly pending permits. Respondent owners' lots remain unchanged, since no development of the lots has commenced. Further, Appellants have scant support for the allegation that any development is imminent or to begin immediately on Respondent Owners' properties. The alleged issuance of a septic system permit alone cannot signify this, because other permits, and namely a building permit, are required to begin construction. This conclusion is bolstered by the Complaint itself, whereby Appellants allege several undeveloped lots

have had “permits that were issued ... years or even decades in the past.” R. p. 000038, ¶ 21.

Moreover, a Folly Beach Ordinance prohibits development within 40 feet of the Perpetual Easement Line and the renourishment project. Appellants have not alleged any Defendant Owner has developed its property within or past this line. Appellants also have not alleged how, other than seeking or obtaining various permits, Respondent Owners have developed their Property in a way that creates an actual or imminent threat of injury to Plaintiffs. For these reasons, Appellants have no constitutional standing to file this action.

2. The City of Folly Beach has no standing.

Appellants primarily rely on public importance standing to support their argument that the City possesses standing (*see infra*). To the limited extent that the City invokes constitutional standing on the basis that it also owns beachfront property (Appellants’ Br., p. 23), the City’s argument assertion of standing fails for the same reason the individual property owners’ assertion fails—the City asserts general interests rather than the actual injury to the municipality as required to establish standing. The City certainly has no standing to seek a declaration of ownership as to the property at issue when it does not claim ownership of that property itself.

B. Appellants Have Not Preserved the Issue of Public Importance Standing and the Doctrine Does Not Apply Here

1. Appellants failed to raise and preserve the issue.

Appellants did not assert public importance standing until they submitted a proposed order. The Court did not discuss the issue, and instead, found that Appellants had failed to raise it. R. p. 000007. Appellants should have moved to alter or amend the

order if they wanted the issue addressed, but they did not do so. Therefore, the issue is not preserved. *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enterprises of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 660, 667 S.E.2d 7, 15 (Ct.App.2008) (finding issue not preserved under similar circumstances. “[A]lthough arguably raised in its proposed order submitted in lieu of a brief to the trial court, Tenant never filed a motion under Rule 59, SCRCP, asking the court to address the issue.”) “Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779–80 (2004).

2. Appellants do not have public importance standing.

In addition to failing to preserve this issue, Appellants fail to show a need for future guidance required for public importance standing.

The key to the public importance analysis is whether a resolution is needed for future guidance. It is this concept of “future guidance” that gives meaning to an issue which transcends a purely private matter and rises to the level of public importance. *Baird*, 333 S.C. at 531, 511 S.E.2d at 75 (“[A] court may confer standing upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance.”) (citations omitted); *Sloan v. Sanford*, 357 S.C. at 434, 593 S.E.2d at 472 (“[U]nder certain circumstances, standing may be conferred upon a party when an issue is of such public importance as to require its resolution for future guidance.”) (citations omitted).

ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cnty., *supra*, 669 S.E.2d at 341. As the Supreme Court later said, “[h]owever, we ‘must be cautious with this exception, lest it swallow the rule.’ *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. S.C. Transp. Infrastructure Bank*, 403 S.C. 640, 646, 744 S.E.2d 521, 524 (2013).” *Jowers v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 423 S.C. 343, 360, 815 S.E.2d 446, 455 (2018).

Appellants claim a need for future guidance yet they have failed to name necessary parties to this case. (*see infra*). They seek to determine an issue in this case involving

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